ANGLO-SAXON BIRMINGHAM

By STEVEN BASSETT
University of Birmingham

Birmingham lies in the centre of the English midlands, traditionally regarded
as a transitional region between the highland and lowland zones of Britain.'
The city’s geographical hinterland comprises the Birmingham Plateau and,
surrounding it, those parts of the Severn-Avon and Trent river systems which
drain the Plateau. Only a short distance to the west and south of modern
Birmingham’s urban sprawl is the main watershed of southern Britain, with
land rising to over 1000 ft (¢300 m.) in the Clent Hills (Figure 1). Rivers
drain westwards and southwards into the Severn-Avon river system and
northwards and eastwards into the Trent basin.

The administrative geography of the modern city has been greatly influ-
enced by its industrial origins. In the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries
rapid growth absorbed many adjacent settlements, and has continued recently
with the acquisition of Sutton Coldfield (1974) and Frankley (1996). Today
the city of Birmingham straddles the boundaries of two kingdoms of the
middle Anglo-Saxon period (the Mercians and the Hwicce), two Anglo-Saxon
dioceses (Lichfield and Worcester), and three shires (Figures 2-3). In 1086,
at the time of the Domesday survey, the manor of Birmingham (an area
corresponding to the very heart of the city) was in Warwickshire, together
with Edgbaston, Aston, Erdington, Witton and Sutton; Handsworth, Perry and
Harborne were in Staffordshire; and Yardley, Moseley, Northfield and King’s
Norton were in Worcestershire. A place, therefore, which is now at the core
of the English midlands and is Britain’s second city was in a truly peripheral
position in the Anglo-Saxon period.

Birmingham has virtually no recorded Anglo-Saxon history nor, it appears,
any Anglo-Saxon archaeology. It is not first mentioned in written sources until
1086, and not a single Anglo-Saxon find, let alone a site, is recorded in the
Sites and Monuments Records which cover modern Birmingham and its rural
hinterland.? Is this because the entire area was woodland, penetrated in the
early Roman period by the builders of Ryknield Street and a few other military
roads, but lived in only briefly by the occupants of the Metchley fort? a
handful of potters* and some early Anglo-Saxon pagans® until, in the later
Anglo-Saxon period, settlements began to be set up in isolated clearings? This
is the account of Birmingham’s pre-Conquest history which is still being
taught in the city’s primary schools, supported by reference to the many local
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Figure 1. Relief and drainage in the vicinity of Birmingham. The area covered is identical to that in Figures 2-4. The
ecclesiastical parish of Birmingham is shown.
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placenames in Old English fsA° Where many examples are found close
together, a placename in £Zaf means ‘woodland clearing’ - although in some
areas, such as the central part of northern Warwickshire, Margaret Gelling
suggests the meaning ‘settlement in a woodland environment’, which is likely
to be appropriate for other parts of the Birmingham area too.”

The city’s children learn that the manors of the Birmingham area, most
of which we first hear about in Domesday Book, were all of relatively recent
origin in 1086. Their teachers routinely assure them that Birmingham’s history
began no earlier than, perhaps, the tenth century, with nothing of significance
happening there until the 1160s, when Peter, the lord of the manor of
Birmingham, founded a market settlement. Although Richard Holt was right
in saying that in 1086 Birmingham was an ‘insignificant agricultural settle-
ment’ which had ‘no sign of any distinguishing characteristics, or any
particular potential for growth’,® the same was certainly not true of many of
its neighbours. The popular view that the Birmingham area had little Anglo-
Saxon history, and so can have had little or no significant Anglo-Saxon
archaeology, is entirely unjustified.

We can do alot better than that. But if the prevalent view of the early history
(or, rather, non-history) of the Birmingham area is to be replaced by a much
more accurate one, we shall need to use some unconventional and sometimes
difficult sorts of evidence. Nor will a full, coherent picture emerge of the area
from the fifth century to the late twelfth, when the market settlement was
founded. The best we can hope for is an uneven, seriously incomplete sketch
which suggests some of the more important aspects of the area’s history and
human landscape in the period. This paper will focus on one of them in
particular - the origins of the medieval land-units of the Birmingham area.

% k *

What we can say about them comes from several sorts of evidence. Much
of it derives from what we find out about the area at a later date, but which
we know or strongly suspect to be of pre-Conquest origin. For instance, parish
boundaries were not mapped reliably and systematically in England until the
early nineteenth century, but it can be shown that many ecclesiastical parishes
of that time mirrored the extent of an Anglo-Saxon manor, or group of manors,
which the parish church in question initially served. Evidence of this sort,
although indirect, can throw light on important aspects of the Birmingham
area’s Anglo-Saxon history. Figure 3 shows the parish and township
boundaries depicted on early nineteenth-century maps. The pattern of land-
units is one which in its essentials is likely to mirror the area’s territorial
organisation in and before 1066.

Another substantial source of information are the area’s many placenames
of pre-Conquest origin - not only those of the Domesday manors, but many
others too which contain Old English elements or even earlier ones. These
names, undoubtedly coined by people living in the Birmingham area, contain
valuable historical information. Unfortunately, it is usually impossible to tell
when a placename was coined.’ This means that we cannot say to which part
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Figure 2. Shires and Aundreds in the vicinity of Birmingham in 1086. Also shown are ecclesiastical parishes and town-
ships at their early nineteenth-century extent (named on Figure 3).
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of the Anglo-Saxon period each piece of historical data belongs. When were
smiths first active in Smethwick? When was Moseley overrun with mice? It
is also hard to be sure that we have correctly understood what the historical
information means. Why, for instance, were Aston, Sutton [Coldfield] and
[King’s] Norton - respectively, ‘eastern land-unit’, ‘southern land-unit’ and
‘northern land-unit’ - named relative to somewhere else?'® And where in each
case was the other place? Names of this sort are telling us something important
about territorial associations in the Birmingham area: it is reasonable to
conclude that when, say, Aston was named, it belonged to a larger territory
of which the most important part lay somewhere to the west of it. But not
being able to say for certain when a name of this sort was formed (which
would give us a date by when the association existed), not knowing why it
was formed, not even being sure of the identity of the more important place
or places to which such directional names point - these problems hamper us
a lot in our efforts to throw light on the Birmingham area’s Anglo-Saxon
history.

Placenames, then, are potentially an invaluable source of direct evidence.
So too would be contemporary written sources, if we only had a reasonable
number of them. Domesday Book, though not compiled until twenty years
after the Norman Conquest, provides an invaluable snapshot of aspects of the
Birmingham area at the end of the Anglo-Saxon period. It could not have been
assembled so quickly if it had not drawn on earlier surveys, and so we can
feel confident about much of what it says about the area at the end of Edward
the Confessor’s reign. Sometimes we can safely project this picture back in
time for several decades and occasionally for far longer. Earlier written
material, however, is scarce. Birmingham itself is not mentioned in surviving
pre-Conquest sources, and there are only seven Anglo-Saxon references to
places close to it. These all occur in charters or leases, three of which are
accompanied by a statement of the boundary of the land concerned.!

It will never be easy to get a clear impression of what was going on in
the Birmingham area in the early medieval period. Were it not for its large
number of Old English and even earlier placenames, it might be all but
impossible to show that the area did not remain impenetrably wooded until
the eighth or ninth century. Even with the help of placenames the argument
is not easily made that as early as the fifth and sixth centuries many separate
communities farmed where the city now sprawls. Since no trace has ever been
recorded of their settlements or burials, it requires circumstantial evidence to
prove their existence. It does not help matters that the entire west midlands
has only a small amount of early Anglo-Saxon archaeology, almost all of
which consists of burials located mainly in two major river valleys. We know
that, from the late fifth century onwards, some of the people living in the Avon
valley and in the Trent valley upstream of Repton (Derbyshire) were being
buried with items similar to those found in graves in East Anglia and the east
midlands as far south as Cambridgeshire. By the late sixth century the objects
being put into graves in the Avon valley increasingly reveal contacts with the
upper Thames valley. It is unclear, however, how many of those being buried
with gravegoods in these two areas of the west midlands were immigrants
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Figure 3. Ecclesiastical parishes and townships at their early nineteenth-century extent. Also shown is the boundary
between the diocese of Worcester and the diocese of Coventry and Lichfield at its c.1291 extent. Oldbury was a detached
portion of the diocese of Hereford.
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from further east or south (or their descendents), and how many of them
belonged to the region’s indigenous population.'

The standard explanation of the appearance of burials accompanied by
gravegoods from the late fifth century is that it represents the movement into
the west midlands of people of Germanic stock who settled among the native
Britons of the area, and whose descendents’ mortuary practices were changed
under the influence of British christianity. This takes account of the fact that
there are few late sixth-century burials with gravegoods in the west midlands
and no seventh-century ones, with virtually no burials with gravegoods of any
date having been found west of the Severn.”® Yet few, if any, of those buried
in this way need have been immigrants or of Germanic stock. It is possible
that the adoption of new mortuary practices in separate parts of the west
midlands was the result, not of migration (or not only of migration), but of
political and cultural influences being brought to bear on the native British
population of the areas concerned by powerful neighbours in the east midlands
and, increasingly, the upper Thames valley.!*

The biological identity of those buried with gravegoods in the west mid-
lands cannot be resolved at present. There can be no doubt, however, that they
were not its only inhabitants. There is a great deal of evidence, both direct
and circumstantial, that in the fifth and sixth centuries the region had a
substantial population, the descendents of those who had inhabited it densely
and farmed it intensively in the late Roman period.* The end of Roman Britain
did not result in the catastrophic depopulation of the west midiands. On the
contrary, rural society is likely to have continued to operate much as before,
but now without a need to produce large agricultural surpluses to feed town-
dwellers and satisfy the heavy demands of the Roman state. The population
no doubt fell considerably in the early post-Roman period in the west mid-
lands, as elsewhere, but organised agrarian life went on throughout the
region,'®

It would, then, be perverse to imagine that the Birmingham area was largely
uninhabited or unexploited either in the Roman period or at any time there-
after. The total absence of known early Anglo-Saxon archaeological sites can
no longer be taken as a reliable guide to the history of settlement and land-
use there in the post-Roman period. That is not to say that the area was as
thickly populated as, for example, the Trent or Avon valleys apparently were.
It does mean, however, that we can accept that the names of the later medieval
manors and parishes of the Birmingham area were in most cases coined in
the early Anglo-Saxon period."” Nor need we suppose that they were always
coined for new settlements. It has been suggested that at least some of the
leafiplacenames in north-central Warwickshire represent a renaming of existing
British settlements.'® Those in the Birmingham area too are likely to do so.

In just a few cases it is self-evident that the Birmingham area’s placenames
are early ones. The name Weoley means ‘woodland clearing, or woodland
settlement, where there is a heathen shrine’."” On even the most pessimistic
view of the average west midlander’s religious nonconformity, the name is
unlikely to have been coined after the early eighth century. For it to be both
needed and perpetuated there had to be many other people nearby to whom
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the inhabitants of Weoley must have seemed significantly out of step, since
it is claimed that Old English names with pagan connotations are unlikely to
have been coined until most people were christians.?

Birmingham’s own name, meaning ‘land-unit of Beorma’s people’, is
probably an even earlier one.” Placenames in -ingafigm are very rare in the
west midlands; but where they occur in southern and eastern England they
have been seen as belonging to an early stage in the Anglo-Saxon settlement
process.”? The -inga- element in the middle of the name suggests the presence
of a clan, i.e. an extended family, in the area - in this case the Beormingas.
It is sometimes possible to identify the probable extent of the land settled and
farmed by a clan of this sort, as it is in, for example, west Essex in the area
of the eight parishes called the Rodings.” In Birmingham'’s case the area may
have been smaller, for Margaret Gelling has warned us not to view its name
as being necessarily as historically important as the others in -ingafam2*
Moreover, many of the names in -inga- are likely to represent internal
colonisation of such early territories by cadet branches of an original clan;
only a few of them may have the historical significance of names such as
Roding or Hastings. Nevertheless, the possibility cannot be excluded that the
Domesday manor of Birmingham lay in what had been, in the sixth century,
a considerably larger territory occupied by the Beonmingas clan.

One other potentially very early name, Witton (in the parish of Aston),
needs to be highlighted. There are a lot of names in -tun in the Birmingham
area, many of them combined with a personal name (e.g. Erdington, Edgbaston),
and most of them characteristically belonging to places of only secondary
importance in the settlement hierarchy. Witton, however, may be significantly
different, since its first element is the Old English word wfc. wicis a common
occurrence in placenames, but in all but a handful of cases it forms the second
element (e.g. Bromwich, Smethwick). Where it occurs first, as it does in about
thirty cases in England of the name wic-Adm (Wickham, etc.) and in a number
of other names (e.g. Wickford in Essex and Weekley in Northamptonshire),
it has been said that ‘it might have been used by the earliest English-speaking
people in Britain to refer to actual Romano-British settlements, or to Roman
administrative units’, since there is general agreement that wic is a loan from
the Latin word vicus.?® Margaret Gelling also points out that over 75 per cent
of wic-ham placenames are on or very close to a major Roman road, and that
more than 50 per cent of them can be shown to be probably at or close to
the site of a Romano-British settlement. The township of Witton in Aston
parish lies next to Ryknield Street, and the Roman road forms part of its
boundary at the point where, arguably joined by the road from Pennocrucium,
it crosses the River Tame.?’ There is no direct archaeological evidence whatever
for Roman occupation in Witton’s vicinity; but by analogy with other exam-
ples of names with wir as their first element,?® it can be suggested that there
was a Romano-British settlement somewhere in this area, possibly a minor
trading centre. The Tame would have provided suitable transport for goods,
no doubt including pottery from the Roman kiln found by chance in Perry
Barr,” quite close to the river crossing.

Placenames apart, there is little tangible evidence of Anglo-Saxon settle-
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ment in the Birmingham area. Among the seven pre-Conquest charters which
relate to parts of it, one probably dates to the very beginning of the eighth
century. It records a grant to Worcester cathedral of an area of land in what
is called ‘wooded countryside’ (rus sifvaticum).*® The area’s name, Hellerelege,
is lost, but the accompanying boundary clause shows that it comprised, as
a minimum, the western half of the township of King’s Norton. Much later
on, charters refer to land at Rednal, Cofton, and various places in the northern
part of Alvechurch,® and probably also to Duddeston in Aston parish.
Yardley is named in a late tenth-century charter. A statement of its boundary
suggests a close correlation between the late Anglo-Saxon manor and the early
nineteenth-century parish.

Despite the difficulties which the lack of evidence presents, we may feel
sure that there were plenty of people living in the Birmingham area in even
the earlier part of the Anglo-Saxon period. There was a lot of woodland there,
but settlements with their own names and fields were already occupying most
of it in the seventh century.* Birmingham itself was on a frontier then. It lay
in the kingdom of the Mercians but very close to its border with the kingdom
of the Hwicce. It is impossible to know exactly where the boundary between
them ran at that time; it is not even known if it was a fixed line, a fluid one,
or a wide zone of woodland which neither kingdom could properly call its
own. But by no more than a hundred years later it no longer mattered much
where the border was, since by the late eighth century the Mercians had
annexed the kingdom of the Hwicce and had reduced it to a province under
their own direct rule.

However, a fair indication of where it ran is provided by the boundary
between the dioceses of Worcester and Lichfield. These were set up in the
late seventh century to serve the two kingdoms - Worcester for the Hwicce
and, a decade previously, Lichfield for the Mercians.** When they were
created, the extents of the dioceses no doubt reflected the two kingdoms’
contemporary extents. But it is not until the late thirteenth century that in-
formation is available to allow a reliable map of the dioceses of England to
be drawn.” By 1291 the border between the dioceses of Worcester and
Lichfield (or Coventry and Lichfield, as the latter was by then) ran along the
Bourn Brook (followed by the southern boundary of Harborne and Edgbaston)
to the River Rea. It continued along the Rea to the north end of Balsall Heath,
where it met the southern corner of the manor of Birmingham, and went over
the watershed to the River Cole, which it followed around three sides of
Yardley before continuing south-westwards.

But we must expect this diocesan boundary to have shifted to and fro at
the local level during the six centuries and more between its creation and
¢.1291.3 For example, it is almost certain (as will be shown later) that Yardley
was initially in the diocese of Lichfield. Most, probably all, of the area called
Selly - modern Weoley Castle, Selly Oak and Selly Park - and also Bartley
Green may have been in the same diocese too, since until shortly before 1066
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they were in the church of Lichfield’s hands.* It may also be significant that
the first element of the names Bordesley and Balsall Heath may be the same
Old English word ford, ‘board, plank’.®® The two places lay to either side
of the diocesan boundary ¢.1291, but their probable sharing of a first element
hints that they may once have belonged to a single land-unit and therefore
both have been in the same diocese. Finally, the Anglo-Saxon charter bound-
ary clause relating to land at Cofton Hackett and in the northern part of
Alvechurch proves that, at some time or other, land in Rednal belonged to
Mercia.*

All this shows, as others have noted before, that the boundary between the
Mercians and the Hwicce, and between their two dioceses, is likely to have
been a flexible one, moving occasionally as changes to the local pattern of
land control shunted pieces of land around among a number of influential
holders - the king, various churches and secular nobles. Throughout this
process Birmingham was always in a liminal situation, lying as it did near
a major natural, political and ecclesiastical boundary, to either side of which
were zones of valuable woodland. Competition for this increasingly scarce
resource was sure to produce a fragmented tenurial pattern, which in turn
would be mirrored in the administrative and parochial geography of the
Birmingham area.

That was certainly true in 1086. By then there had been a united kingdom
of England for well over a century, so that even the kingdom of Mercia was
no more than a distant memory, and the west midland region was divided up
into shires and hundreds. Domesday Book is the earliest consistent record of
the geography of these administrative land-units. It shows Worcestershire,
Staffordshire and Warwickshire meeting in the immediate vicinity of Birming-
ham, with the boundary between Worcestershire on the one hand and Staf-
fordshire and Warwickshire on the other lying, with only a few exceptions,
on the same line as the boundary of ¢.1291 between the diocese of Worcester
and that of Coventry and Lichfield (Figures 2-3). The shires, then, perpetuated
Birmingham’s marginal position. The hundredal pattern fragmented the area
even further. The land situated closest to Birmingham in Warwickshire was
undivided, with all of it belonging to Coleshill hundred; but the nearest land
in Staffordshire was split between Seisdon and Offlow hundreds, and the
nearest in Worcestershire between Clent and Came hundreds, with Yardley,
Tanworth and Packwood forming distant outliers of hundreds in the Avon
valley and beyond.

* %k ¥

Yardley provides a very good example of the way in which much can be
learnt about the Birmingham area in the Anglo-Saxon period by paying close
attention to recorded relationships between separate secular and ecclesiastical
land-units. In 1066 it was held by the important Benedictine abbey at Pershore,
and so was Beoley, a few miles south-west of Yardley, to which the latter
was attached manorially.® It is not known for how long Pershore abbey had
been holding Yardley by 1086, but an apparently reliable charter issued by
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king Edgar in 972 lists it among the lands which were then being restored
to the monks.* So it is likely that Pershore had owned it for some time before
the late tenth century. This looks like one example among many of a major
church in the arable lowlands to the south of the Birmingham Plateau having
had a royal grant, possibly as early as the seventh or eighth century, of a tract
of the extensive woodland in the vicinity of the boundary between the Hwicce
and the Mercians.

Because of Pershore’s firm ownership of Yardley and Beoley, they became
parts of its hundred. This was in keeping with the trend in the late Anglo-
Saxon period for cathedrals and some other major churches in the west
midlands, as elsewhere, to have most or all of their lands under their own
administrative control rather than that of the crown’s leading secular offi-
cials.* Worcester and Evesham, for example, had private hundredal jurisdic-
tion which, along with Pershore’s, produced the fragmented hundredal
geography in the area of the former kingdom of the Hwicce which Domesday
Book first allows us to map. This, then, is the background to a complex but
revealing dispute which arose in the thirteenth century, when both Beoley and
Yardley had been in the hands of lay sub-tenants, the Limesi family, for some
time. The object of the dispute was the church of Yardley.

At some time in the late twelfth century Gervase Paynel, the lord of the
manor of Aston, founded a priory at Tickford (Bucks.), afizs Newport Pagnell.
He then made a gift to it of the church of Aston, together with the latter’s
chapels at Castle Bromwich, Water Orton and Yardley. At some time between
1194 and 1220 Gervase’s nephew and successor confirmed the grant.*’ Also
before 1220, he enfeoffed the Erdington family in Aston, and they began
presenting priests to the church as if it were their right to do so rather than
that of the prior of Tickford.* This meant that the Erdingtons were claiming
to be the rightful owners of the income, not only of Aston church itself, but
also of all its chapels and the whole area which they served between them.
In 1220 the prior of Tickford seems suddenly to have noticed what was going
on; however, he was not the only person to make a fuss. The abbot of Alcester
(Warwicks.) did so too, producing charters which allegedly showed that the
church at Yardley, far from being subject to Aston, was in fact a chapel which
belonged to the church of Beoley. He claimed that becase the latter had been
given to Alcester in the late twelfth century by the Limesi family, his abbey
was the rightful owner of Yardley’s church.”’

This dispute dragged on for a total of 130 years, but for present purposes
the key stages came in the middle decades of the thirteenth century. On three
separate occasions (1237, 1263 and 1274) judgement was given in Aston’s
favour® As a result there can be no doubt that the manor of Yardley lay in
the parish of Aston, and that its church genuinely was a chapel of Aston’s.
However, before the implications of this for Birmingham’s early history are
considered, it needs to be said that the claim which the abbot of Alcester made
in 1220 was a perfectly respectable one. His abbey had been given Beoley’s
church in the late twelfth century, when Yardley had been manorially subject
to Beoley for centuries as a result of both areas belonging to Pershore abbey.
It is often found that in situations of this kind a manorial dependency, such
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as Yardley was, was eventually held to belong to the parish of the main
manor’s church - in this case Beoley’s - even when, as here, the two places
lay some distance apart. But this sort of situation would arise only if the true
mother church of the area in question had lost the will to hold on to what
was rightfully its own, or perhaps had even forgotten that it was the other
church’s mother. However, in Yardley’s case this did not happen, since the
church of Aston had never relaxed its grip on Yardley; and so, when the need
arose, its matronal status was firmly enforced.

But when had this mother-daughter relationship been formed? It is highly
significant that nowhere in the thirteenth-century records of the dispute about
Yardley church are the grounds of Aston’s claim ever reported, other than
a flat statement that Aston was the mother church. Beoley’s counter-claim
was based on the manorial link which had existed between Beoley and Yardley
since before 1066 as a result of their both belonging to Pershore abbey. But
there had been no manorial or administrative relationship whatever between
Aston and Yardley since the latter had been restored to Pershore in the late
tenth century, and therefore there had been no opportunity for the church of
Aston to gain its parochial control of Yardley since well back in the pre-
Conquest period. It is more than likely that its claim was based on its having
been the mother church of Yardley even before the latter was granted to
Pershore.

This important observation is one of several good reasons for concluding
that Aston’s church was in Qrigin one of the sort which Anglo-Saxons them-
selves called a minster.” Among the other reasons is the size of its parish.
Even without Yardley, Aston’s parish was one of the largest in the region.
It contained at least eight manors by 1300, and at the end of the middle ages
Aston had a least six chapels subject to it - at Erdington, Little Bromwich
afias Ward End, Castle Bromwich, Deritend (in Bordesley), Water Orton and
Yardley (Figure 4).° It was certainly one of the most important churches in
the Birmingham area. Yet it stood surprisingly close to the western edge of
its parish; and it was of course the church of an area named Aston, ‘eastern
land-unit’. Of what even larger territory, then, was Anglo-Saxon Aston only
the eastern part?

It will be useful at this point to comment on the organisation of the Anglo-
Saxon church in the west midlands. The English parochial system of late
medieval and modern times developed mainly between the tenth century and
the twelfth. The question of what preceded it is hotly debated, but there is
persuasive evidence that in the west midlands, as in some other parts of
England, it evolved out of an earlier ecclesiastical system which is widely
known as ‘the minster system’.’! Its transformation into the parochial system
which is still in use today was a very long drawn out business which left many
fragments of valuable evidence scattered about in late medieval sources. As
the example of Yardley showed, this evidence can be used to form a picture
of what the ecclesiastical geography of the west midlands was like, arguably
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even as early as the seventh century. It reveals that, just as there was a direct
correlation between manors and parishes from the tenth century onwards, so
also previously, as far back as the seventh century, minsters had served the
secular land-units of the day in the west midlands. These, however, tended
to be far larger than the manors referred to in late Anglo-Saxon charters and
leases, Domesday Book and later sources.

This means that where evidence can be found of how the many late
medieval churches in the Birmingham area were related to one another in
terms of their original status, real progress can be made towards an under-
standing of the area’s Anglo-Saxon history. Fortunately, there is enough of
the right sorts of evidence available to make the attempt worthwhile, although
there is nowhere near enough of it to allow the full story to emerge.

In the seventh and early eighth centuries minsters were set up in most,
perhaps all, of the Anglo-Saxon dioceses. In the west midlands and elsewhere
they acted as, among other things, centres from which local populations were
converted and subsequently received whatever pastoral care was to be had.
What most of these ‘old minsters’s? had in common was a very large parish
- what for convenience we may call a minster parish, so as to distinguish it
from the far smaller ecclesiastical parishes of later medieval and modern
England. Other, less important churches were set up from the eighth century
onwards by the bishop or the community of an existing minster, or sometimes
by lay people. Referred to in different contexts as sub-minsters, lesser minsters
or parochial chapels, they inevitably stood in the parishes of old minsters.
Most were founded to supplement the latter in the provision of pastoral care
and so became responsible for a sizeable part of the minster parish, which
usually contained several manors. Some sub-minsters had more than one priest
and land assessed at a hide or more, and therefore are sometimes hard to tell
apart from the old minsters. But they are easily distinguished from yet another
sort of church of which large numbers are found in the area, the manorial or
private chapels. A great many of these were built by land holders on their
manors during the tenth, eleventh and twelfth centuries, usually close to the
hall, and at first had no public role. However, many became parish churches
sooner or later by being adopted by the diocese and given a priest, and they
served the area of the manor on which they had been founded.

* k X

A detailed study of the Birmingham area reveals a number of old minsters
of probable seventh- or early eighth-century foundation and has shown the
likely extents of their minster parishes. It also enables the latter’s break-up
to be traced, as sub-minsters and then large numbers of manorial chapels were
set up at different times in different parts of each one. This lengthy process
produced by ¢.1200 a parochial geography which stayed largely unchanged
until the mid nineteenth century (Figure 4). The evidence and arguments on
which the study’s conclusions are based unfortunately need far more space
for full presentation than is available here and so only its conclusions can be
presented in many instances.®
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Bromsgrove was a major royal centre, and its church, like Aston’s, had
a very large parish in the late medieval period. To the north it was very oddly
shaped, containing the whole of what in 1846 became the independent
ecclesiastical parish of King’s Norton. Until then King’s Norton church,
notwithstanding its size and architectural merit, had been no more than a
chapel of Bromsgrove’s church. To the south, it can be argued that Tardebigge,
Stoke Prior and possibly Alvechurch were all once served by Bromsgrove
church and therefore belonged to its parish.*

There was an important minster at Halesowen. Two priests were recorded
there in Domesday Book,” a clear indication of a superior church. Until the
nineteenth century it retained control of a large parish containing many
townships. Frankley was said to lie in it from the mid thirteenth century, but
it had probably been ‘captured’ from Northfield church.® A case can be made
for Halesowen’s parish having at first extended further to the west and north,
with Clent and its chapelry Rowley Regis once being in it and perhaps other,
adjacent areas too.

To the north-west and north of Birmingham there were minsters at Wol-
verhampton and Walsall. Their relationship with each other and with the even
more important minster at Tettenhall, a few miles to the west of Wolverhamp-
ton, is a complex and revealing one but has no particular relevance here.”
To the east of them, Sutton Coldfield was probably in the very large minster
parish of St Michael’s, Lichfield; and if Sutton was, so were Curdworth and
its parochial outlier Minworth, and probably Wishaw.*® Beyond them the
church of Kingsbury was evidently a minster, but it may have been only a
sub-minster, perhaps of Coleshill.

The picture is not so clear on the eastern side of the area around Birming-
ham. Coleshill’s church was an old minster with a parish which originally
extended a long way to the north and east.”® To the west it had an easily
ascertained border with the large parish of Aston; but it is very hard to establish
how far it stretched southwards. Two churches in the upper Blythe valley,
Hampton-in-Arden and Berkswell, were definitely of minster status, and
Solihull may also have been.® They may all have been sub-minsters; but if
$0, no evidence has yet emerged to show to which old minster each was
originally subordinate. However, the church of Hampton-in-Arden is a can-
didate for recognition as an old minster. Its parish and Berkswell’s and their
various chapelries interlock in a way which strongly suggests that if Hampton-
in-Arden was an old minster, Berkswell originated as a sub-minster in its
parish. However, it is conceivable that both places originally lay in the minster
parish of Coleshill.

Neither Solihull nor Sheldon is named in Domesday Book, but it is clear
that the 8 hide manor of Ulverley (where there was a priest in 1086) was later
divided between these two parishes and the detached area of Bickenhill parish
known today as Olton.®! The way in which these parishes interlock suggests
that they may once have belonged to the same, much larger, land-unit; but
the identity of its mother church - whether Coleshill or Hampton-in-Arden
- is unknown. Further south a group of parishes including Wroxall, Honiley
and Beausale was once served by a minster at Hatton, which may itself have
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been a sub-minster in the original parish of an old minster at Warwick.5

Only the area to the south and south-east of Birmingham remains to be
examined. This is where the great watershed between the Severn-Avon and
Trent drainage basins lies. In places the parish boundaries follow it very
closely, such as the northern ones of Cofton Hackett, Alvechurch and Beoley,
which together form the southern boundary of the parishes of King’s Norton
and Solihull. Further east, however, the watershed passes through the heart
of Tanworth and Lapworth and leaves Packwood wholly to the north of it.
It resumes its role as a major line of territorial division in the vicinity of the
original parishes of Hatton and its probable mother church at Warwick. It is
notable that almost all of the parishes and chapelries named above were in
the diocese of Worcester ¢.1291, as was the large parish of Northfield to the
north-west of King’s Norton.”® They and some of their immediate neighbours
- in particular Alvechurch and Solihull - yield far fewer clues to their early
manorial and parochial history than do any of the other land-units in the region
around Birmingham which has been surveyed here. This is because they
occupied an area to either side of the watershed which contained a substantial
amount of woodland lying, it seems, outside the regular territorial framework
in existence elsewhere.

We can deduce this from a number of sources. Placenames indicative of
woodland resources and exploitation figure prominently there. The Anglo-
Saxon charters which record royal grants of land in the area underline the
importance of woodland and reveal in one instance that it was external to the
manors situated there.* And these and other sources show that blocks of the
woodland were given to major Anglo-Saxon churches in distant low-lying
arable areas. For instance, two sizeable pieces of ‘wooded countryside’ at
Hellerelege (in King’s Norton parish) and Hnuthyrst (Nuthurst and perhaps
also Lapworth and Bushwood) were given to the church of Worcester in
699x709; Tanworth was attached to the manor of Brailes in the Feldon area
of south-eastern Warwickshire, as was Packwood to Wasperton in the Avon
valley; and Yardley was granted to Pershore abbey.®

But the recipients were not always distant. The few charters which we do
have for this area and the evidence of Domesday Book highlight how complex
its manorial history was. This accounts for the area’s tortuous parochial
geography but rarely throws adequate light on its origins. We shall probably
never know why, for instance, Cofton Hackett became a chapelry of Northfield,
or how Nuthurst, given to Worcester at the start of the seventh century,
eventually became an outlier of the parish of Hampton-in-Arden. As in other
districts which were still marginal in the middle Anglo-Saxon period, the land
in the Birmingham area lying astride the most important watershed in southern
Britain was carved up, dealt out and then often reshuffled over several cen-
turies with only a few signs of the process being left in the surviving records.
The royal manor of Bromsgrove was an obvious beneficiary; so too on a lesser
scale were numbers of minsters in the two adjoining kingdoms. But it is rarely
possible to do more than make an educated guess at how the geography of
the district’s manors and parishes evolved to the stage at which we find it
in, respectively, 1086 and ¢.1291.
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This returns us to where we started. All that remains is Birmingham itself
and the area in its immediate vicinity. We have already seen that the church
of Aston had a very large parish and was undoubtedly a minster. To the west
of it lay an area defined on its other sides by the minster parishes of Bromsgrove,
Halesowen, Wolverhampton and Walsall. By far the most important church
there is Harborne’s. In the early nineteenth century its parish, which included
Smethwick, was of only average size for the area, but it had originally been
an extensive one.

The first time we hear of Edgbaston’s church, in the 1270s, it was a chapel
subject to the church of Harborne, and so it remained until it gained a measure
of parochial independence around the end of the middle ages.% Handsworth’s
church also originated as Harborne’s chapel. In 1247 it was said that the rector
of Harborne was entitled to £2 13s 4d from the endowment of Handsworth
parish. After a brief dispute (only twenty-two years long), the matter was
resolved: the rector of Handsworth agreed to pay the rector of Harborne £1
6s 8d per year.”” It is conceivable that this dispute and the way in which it
was resolved throw no useful light on the original relationship between the
two churches. But if that were so, we should expect Lichfield’s register to
report the basis of Harborne’s claim. Lichfield itself owned the church of
Harborne, and so it was in its interest to keep full and accurate records. The
fact that it gives no details on this occasion makes the dispute sound like many
others which occurred in the late medieval period. Lichfield was asserting its
ownership of Handsworth and its income by virtue of its own status as
Harborne’s mother.®® Handsworth had plainly slipped out of Harborne’s control,
come under the local lord’s, and begun behaving as if it were an independent
parish church - not just for the manor of Handsworth but for Perry and Little
Barr too. The settlement of 1269 was a common sense one. The clock was
not to be turned back; but the church of Handsworth had to buy its independ-
ence by making annual payments to Harborne in compensation for the latter’s
lost revenues from it.

West Bromwich too was once part of Harborne’s parish. Early in the 1140s
its lord granted the church to Worcester cathedral priory. The grant was
challenged by Handsworth on the grounds that it was the mother church of
West Bromwich. A synod at Lichfield soon afterwards ruled against
Handsworth, saying that West Bromwich was not subject to it, ‘but was itself
free and anciently a mother church’.®? When a generation later a priest of
Handsworth revived his church’s claim, the pope placed the matter in the
hands of the bishop of London. He decreed in 1181 that the current rector
of Handsworth should hold West Bromwich for life in return for an annual
pension of Ss to be paid to Worcester.™ The records of the dispute regrettably
give no details, and so it is not known what the decision really meant - but
it sounds like the final settlement of a genuine but lapsed claim by a mother
church over one of its daughters. If West Bromwich was once in Handsworth’s
parish, then it must originally have been subject to Harborne.
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The same may be true of Great Barr. Handsworth’s parish contains Perry
and Little Barr, the latter being one of two Domesday manors called Barr.”!
The other, Great Barr, was a chapelry of Aldridge, to the north of it, in and
after the late medieval period;” but it is very probable that, since (as their
name shows) they were created by the fission of a single land-unit, they were
once served by the same mother church. It is impossible to say if this role
was fulfilled by Handsworth or by Aldridge (or its mother). The manorial
history of the Barr manors explains why they were served by different churches.
In 1086 Aldridge and Great Barr were both held of William fitz Ansculf by
a sub-tenant called Robert, but thereafter they became a single unit.” This
would have made it possible for Aldridge’s church to ‘capture’ Great Barr,
with their manorial association allowing it to enjoy the latter’s tithes and, once
a chapel had been founded, to gain control of it. Similarly, the manors of
Handsworth, Perry and Little Barr were held of William fitz Ansculf by a sub-
tenant named Drogo.™ This would have allowed Handsworth’s church to
‘capture’ Little Barr and Perry. Without other evidence, therefore (and none
has come to light so far), the question of which church originally served Barr
is unanswerable. ,

Finally, Northfield must be discussed. Its parish lies immediately south of
Harborne, with much of it occupying the same valley. In its northernmost part
were the two manors of Selly (including the modern districts of Weoley Castle,
Selly Oak and Selly Park), together with Bartley, the berewick of the larger
one. An unusually helpful remark in Domesday Book states that most of Selly
(a four hide manor and its berewick) had belonged to the church of Lichfield
until just before 1066, and would soon have returned to it if the Norman
conquest had not intervened. It is possible that the other Selly manor (assessed
at only 1 hide) had once belonged to it t00.” Since Harborne’s church was
also in Lichfield’s hands in the late Anglo-Saxon period, as it was throughout
the late medieval period, it is highly likely that it would have served manors
in Selly, either directly or indirectly (i.e. through a sub-minster), which also
belonged to Lichfield.

There was a priest at Northfield in 1086 and therefore a church;” and as
its original parish contained at least five Domesday manors, it was almost
certainly a sub-minster. However, the identity of its mother church is un-
known: Harborne and Bromsgrove are equally strong candidates. Selly’s
dependence on Northfield’s church may have come about through a ‘capture’
from Harborne’s, for in 1086 William fitz Ansculf held all four manors in
the main body of Northfield’s parish.” If so, Bromsgrove was probably
Northfield’s mother church, and the latter may always have been in the diocese
of Worcester. Alternatively, if Northfield’s church was founded as a sub-
minster of Harborne, it may have served the Selly area from an early date.
If so, the parish of Northfield may have ended up in Worcestershire and the
diocese of Worcester as a result of the manors in it having become attached,
at an unknown date in the Anglo-Saxon period, to an important centre to the
south of the watershed (probably Bromsgrove or Alvechurch); but there are
many problems with this hypothesis. Northfield is an abiding puzzle: none
of the rational ways of accounting for its church’s origins is problem-free.
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The one safe conclusion which can be drawn is that Selly was originally in
the parish of Harborne.

Only Birmingham itself remains to be considered. Sandwiched as it is
between the original parishes of Harborne and Aston, it must at first have been
in one or other of them. The available sources offer no hint as to which church
was its mother. However, Harborne looks much the likelier on simple topo-
graphical grounds, since its parish wraps itself round Birmingham in a pro-
prietary fashion.

The reason why we know nothing about the origins of St Martin’s,
Birmingham may be because it became the church of a successful town. It
may have been founded in the late twelfth century to serve Peter de Birming-
ham’s new market settlement: its location, in the triangular market-place near
its head, is a classic one for a chapel of this sort. The settlement’s achievement
of burghal status and its rapid economic growth saw it transformed in less
than a century into ‘a prosperous manufacturing and market town’.” In the
mid thirteenth century this success was reflected in the rebuilding of St
Martin’s on a much grander scale. Not every borough chapel was able to break
free of its mother early on and become a parish church in its own right. The
one at Stratford-upon-Avon, for example, never did, and St John’s, Henley-
in-Arden was unable to do so until 1914. But St Martin’s freed itself early
and fully enough for there to be no surviving evidence of whether Harborne
or Aston was its mother.”

It is, however, unusual to find a chapel of this sort serving not only the
borough itself but the whole manor in which it stood, as St Martin’s did. This
may mean that there was a church on the manor of Birmingham before the
market settlement’s creation. If so, there can be little doubt that it stood
elsewhere. We have no idea at present where the hall of the twelfth-century
and earlier manor was located, but it is unlikely to have been in the immediate
vicinity of the site on which Peter de Birmingham laid out a market-place.
The latter was doubtless chosen for the commercial opportunities offered by
the convergence of long-distance roads on an important crossing of the Rea.
If there was already a church at Birmingham then, it was presumably of
manorial origin and may have been transferred from its original site to one
within the market-place in or after the late twelfth century. If so, it would
eventually have been eclipsed by St Martin’s and then disappeared, as hap-
pened in almost identical circumstances at, for example, Chelmsford in Essex.®

* k %

Like Aston’s, Harborne’s church evidently had a very large parish which
must already have existed before the conquest, for there was no chance of
new parochial relationships being imposed by ‘capture’ on most of its con-
stituent manors after 1066, as they were never in Lichfield’s hands in the late
middle ages. This means, then, that there were two substantial minster parishes
occupying the space between the others in the area. It is important to ask what
relationship there was, if any, between the churches of Aston and Harborne.
Were they of equal status? or was one the other’s mother church? Almost all
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the reliable evidence has been examined, and there is no rabbit to be pulled
from a hat. A few clues allow two hypotheses to be formed but leave us unable
to decide between them.

Arguments can be advanced both for and against the suggestion that both
churches were old minsters. Harborne is the easier to accept as one, chiefly
(but perhaps perversely) because of Aston’s name, which conventionally
suggests its dependence on a more important place to the west of it. Where
the latter was situated is unclear, if it must lie more or less west of Aston;
but the name may simply mean ‘land-unit in the eastern part of the territory’.
In either case there is an unavoidable implication that Aston and its parochial
hinterland lay in a larger territory in which the most important place was
situated elsewhere. This means that only one old minster is needed in the
immediate vicinity of Birmingham, with Harborne being the obvious candi-
date. No instance comes to mind of an Anglo-Saxon minster of proven
seventh- or early eighth-century foundation at a place with a directional
placename. However, there are many such places with a church which is
recognisable as a sub-minster, some of which, such as King’s Sutton
(Northants.), may have been given considerably enlarged pastoral re-
sponsibilities in the late Anglo-Saxon period.*

This is the least difficult explanation to sustain of the origins of Aston’s
church. However, an alternative one needs to be mentioned briefly. It is that
neither Harborne nor Aston originated as an old minster, but that both were
sub-minsters of St Michael’s, Lichfield. This hypothesis is built on the unusual
relations which the churches at Shenstone, Walsall and Aston (all minsters)
had with Lichfield. Whereas the manor and church of Harborne were the
latter’s property and so were inevitably closely dependent on it, these other
churches belonged to laymen who in each case chose to give them to a
monastic house. The reports of the ensuing disputes and other matters suggest
that Lichfield had a significant proprietary interest in them which is best
explained as that of their original mother church.

Aston must suffice as an example. There is very little evidence to hand
about its church. It was a very valuable one, worth £40 ¢.1291, of which
£13 65 4d was a yearly pension paid to the dean and chapter because of its
appropriation to Tickford priory in 1254.% It was not uncommon for a levy
to be made in such cases, but such a large sum indicates that Lichfield had
rights in the church beyond its regular diocesan ones. It is notable that for
many years in the thirteenth century the rector of Aston was William de
Kilkenny who, as holder of Lichfield’s prebend of Gaia Minor, was at the
same time rector of Harborne. It was in his incumbency that a vicarage was
established at Aston on Tickford priory’s behalf and an annual pension as-
signed to the dean and chapter.® His incumbency of both Harborne and Aston
might be a mere coincidence, but if so, it is a remarkable one. Tickford had
been allowed to appropriate the church of Aston once before, in the late twelfth
century, but then plainly lost its grasp on it.* The re-establishment of the
vicarage came at a considerable price, and one which strongly suggests that
Lichfield was able to make good a claim to be Aston’s mother church.
Something similar happened in regard to Shenstone, which can be proved once
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to have been in the parish of St Michael’s, Lichfield (the cathedral’s parish
church).® At Walsall too (another church, like Aston, of undoubted minster
status), there is evidence pointing to the same conclusion.?

It is possible, then, that St Michael’s, Lichfield originally had a huge parish
which stretched northwards to the Trent and southwards to the border of the
kingdom of the Mercians at or just north of the watershed between the Severn-
Avon and Trent systems. If so, it would have comprised at its southern end
the original parishes of Walsall, Harborne and Aston. (There is no evidence
to suggest that any of the others discussed here might also have been included.)
Such a parish would have an analogue in the equally large territory which
was the original parish of St Helen’s, Worcester - which, like St Michael’s,
may have been the seat of a British bishop before ecclesiastical organisation
in the west midlands came under Canterbury’s control.®” It too included a
number of important churches, such as Martley’s, which were clearly of
minster status but which recognised St Helen’s as their mother church and
were presumably only sub-minsters.

% % %

In the course of its medieval history Birmingham moved from being in a
frontier zone, on the very edge of the kingdom of the Mercians, to a position
in the mid thirteenth century where in the context of the west midlands it was
already becoming an important manufacturing and marketing centre. The
manor of Birmingham looks unimportant in 1086, but the area in which it
was located was no remote forest glade. The complex layout of the Domesday
shires and hundreds in Birmingham’s vicinity plainly reflects the strong vested
interests of the crown and a number of the region’s most important churches.
The Birmingham area was surrounded on all sides by extensive minster
parishes; and although the problem of the origins of the churches of Harborne
and Aston cannot be fully resolved, they too were certainly minsters.

The model which best explains how land-units developed in midland and
southern England in the course of the early medieval period is certainly
appropriate for the lower-lying areas which impinge on the western and
southern flanks of the Birmingham Plateau. On the Plateau itself the influence
of atypical factors requires the model to be modified. One such factor was
the proximity of the church of Lichfield. Its landed resources in the area were
considerable in 1086;* but there are hints that, as had undoubtedly happened
to the church of Worcester (for which in marked contrast we have excellent
evidence), it had lost a lot of land there in the century or so before the Norman
conquest. Lichfield’s loss of the see - moved to Chester (1075) and then to
Coventry (1102), and shared with the latter after 1228 - further weakened its
temporal hold on the Birmingham area.®’ Yet its regular successes in disputes
with the crown and assorted monastic houses about its rights in the area’s
minsters, especially but not exclusively after 1228, suggest the extent of its
original temporal pre-eminence there.

Another atypical factor is.the woodland in the area, or rather the possibility
of some of it having at first lain outside ‘the minster system’. Domesday Book
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shows varying amounts of woodland (sifig) on the manors there, with some
having a large amount and others not. It does not point to the situation being
different from other, adjacent districts or even from ones further away; and
analogy with better documented places suggests that the amounts of woodland
in the area several centuries earlier might not have differed greatly from those
of 1086. It is very likely that much of the woodland in the Birmingham area
at the latter date was wood pasture (in which trees competed with grazing
animals and where areas of grassland were also found), and that the rest was
subject to regular coppicing. Both practices can produce an airy, open land-
scape supporting a thriving mixed-farming or mainly pastoral economy, with
an important role in it for timber for building and other purposes.* But as
we have seen, it was not one which had been created in the last century or
two before 1086 (although that is not to say that it was as old as landscapes
beyond the Plateau in which arable farming predominated).

Like the Weald of south-eastern England - of which the Birmingham
Plateau is in many respects a microcosm in the Anglo-Saxon period - the area
was at the margins of the region’s kingdoms.?' Some of it may have been thinly
populated and underexploited in the seventh and early eighth centuries when
old minsters were being set up in the west midland dioceses. Unlike lower-
lying areas where there had been no break in cultivation and settlement since
the late Roman period, the poorest or least accessible lands may have fallen
out of normal agrarian use for several generations. It would not be surprising,
then, if the inhabitants of relatively remote ‘wooded countryside’, such as
Northfield, King’s Norton, Tanworth and much of Solihull, were brought into
‘the minster system’ more slowly than were other people. In addition, some
of the woodland on the highest ground appears to have stayed in royal hands
for much of the Anglo-Saxon period, excluded from the normal territorial
structures of the west midlands until allocated in carefully defined amounts
to major landowners (including the kings themselves).

It is partly for these reasons and partly for lack of information of the sorts
which are plentiful in other areas that it has not been possible to produce a
more coherent account of the Birmingham area. The suggestion that the parish
of St Michael’s, Lichfield might at first have included the Birmingham area
rests on only a small amount of circumstantial evidence and is made very
tentatively. Were it not for much more substantial evidence of a similar
territory around Worcester of probable pre-Anglo-Saxon date of origin, the
suggestion would not have been made. If it is correct, it helps to explain why
Aston’s church looks as important as Harborne’s in many respects. If it is
not correct, an alternative explanation of these two churches’ origins gives
Harborne the role of an old minster and Aston that of a sub-minster founded
in the part of Harborne’s minster parish where manors belonging to the
earldom of Mercia were concentrated in 1066, and where it is likely, therefore,
that the crown had itself held lands for a long time, as at Duddeston in 963.%2
A church on a large royal manor is likely to have been well endowed, as
Aston’s was, and its parish could grow by the addition of the Anglo-Saxon
equivalent of extra-parochial land (as Bromsgrove’s probably did in a similar
way). None of this can be proved true of the minster at Aston, but there is
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enough evidence to make the hypothesis a viable one.

It is unclear, therefore, if there was a single discrete territory surrounding
Birmingham in the early Anglo-Saxon period which an old minster - probably
situated at Harborne - was set up to serve in the seventh or early eighth century.
Even if it had been possible to show beyond reasonable doubt that there had
been such a territory, it would not have told us the full significance of
Birmingham’s name, ‘land-unit of Beorma’s people’. We can never hope to
find out if this A%m was significantly larger than the Domesday manor of
Birmingham, or if it was of much the same size. We cannot discover if the
‘Beormingas, ‘Beorma’s people’, were merely people living in the part of the
Rea valley where the manor would be formed, or if they were a clan whose
name was associated (by analogy with the people who gave their name to the
Rodings of Essex) with a far larger part of the area served later by the minsters
at Harborne and Aston (and perhaps originaily by one at Harborne alone).”
One day we may find out if the area for which the name Birmingham was
coined adjoined, or even contained, a latc Roman settlement site of some
importance, as many other places named in -ingafigm did.* Witton’s name
suggests that it did, but it will need new archaeological finds to establish this.

Although light has been thrown on the early medieval history of the
Birmingham area by the approach used here, some questions will never be
answered and others will require an input of archaeological data on a scale
which may no longer be possible in the conurbation. The important discovery
made here is that we can trace and begin to understand the Anglo-Saxon
origins of a landscape in which, among many other important developments,
a market settlement planted on the edge of an apparently insignificant manor
in the 1160s could evolve into Britain’s second city.
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point, and with whom I have had several discussions to my great advantage.

2 Tam grateful to the following for information from the Sites and Monuments Records concerned
(in March 1997): Dr Michael Hodder (Birmingham City Council); Ms Hilary White (West Midlands
County Council).

3 The fort lies in the grounds of the University of Birmingham: J.K. St Joseph and F.W. Shotton,
‘The Roman camps at Metchley, Birmingham®, Trans. of tfe Birmingfiam Arch. Soc., LVIII (1937),
68-83; A. Jones, Roman Birmingfiam. Volume 1: Excavations 1963-4, 1967-9 and 1997 (forth-
coming).

4 Debris from a Romano-British pottery kiln of late second-century or perhaps later date was
found in Perry Barr (SP 0654 9083): H.V. Hughes, ‘A Romano-British kiln site at Perry Barr,
Birmingham’, Trans. of the Birmingham Arch. Soc., LXXVII (1959), 33-9.

3 Whose presence is shown by a cluster of placenames, e.g. Weoley, Wednesbury and Wednesfield:
M. Gelling, Signposts to the Past, 3rd edn (Chichester, 1997), 158-61.

¢ These include Bartley [Green], Billesley, Bordesley (twice), Broadhidley [Hall], Frankley,
Lea [Green], Metchley, Moseley, Moundsley [Hall], Saltley, Selly [Oak, Park], Shelly {Farm],
Shirley, Stirchley, Streetly, Tyseley, Ulverley [Green], Walmley, Weoley [Castle] and Yardley.

7 M. Gelling, ‘Some notes on Warwickshire place-names’, Trans. of the Birmingham and
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Warwicks. Arch. Soc, LXXXVI (1974), 59-79, at 66-8; eadem, Place-Names in the Landscape
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takeover of the west midlands’, Anglo-Saxon Studies in Archacology and History, X1 (2000).

13 P. Sims-Williams, Refigion and Literature in Western England, 600-800 (Cambridge, 1990),
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